# **MINUTES**

# **Special Council Meeting**

1 November 2022

#### **Mayor and Councillors**

Here within are the Minutes of the Special Council Meeting of the City of South Perth Council held Tuesday 1 November 2022 in the City of South Perth Council Chamber, corner Sandgate Street and South Terrace, South Perth.

MIKE BRADFORD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

3 November 2022



# **Acknowledgement of Country**

Kaartdjinin Nidja Nyungar Whadjuk Boodjar Koora Nidja Djining Noonakoort kaartdijin wangkiny, maam, gnarnk and boordier Nidja Whadjuk kura kura.

We acknowledge and pay our respects to the traditional custodians of this land, the Whadjuk people of the Noongar nation and their Elders past and present.

# **Our Guiding Values**



# Disclaimer

The City of South Perth disclaims any liability for any loss arising from any person or body relying on any statement, discussion, recommendation or decision made during this meeting.

Where an application for an approval, a licence or the like is discussed or determined during this meeting, the City warns that neither the applicant, nor any other person or body, should rely upon that discussion or determination until written notice of either an approval and the conditions which relate to it, or the refusal of the application has been issued by the City.



# **Contents**

1.	DECLARATION OF OPENING		4
2.	ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE PRESIDING MEMBER		4
3.	ATT	ENDANCE	4
	3.1	APOLOGIES	5
	3.2	APPROVED LEAVE OF ABSENCE	5
4.	DEC	CLARATIONS OF INTEREST	5
5.	PUE	BLIC QUESTION TIME	5
	5.1	PUBLIC QUESTION TIME: 1 NOVEMBER 2022	5
6	DEP	PUTATIONS	6
7.	REP	PORTS	7
	7.0	STRATEGIC DIRECTION 1: COMMUNITY	7
		7.0.1 Recreation and Aquatic Facility	7
8.	CLO	DSURE	19
APPI	ENDI)	X	20
DISC	LAIM	IER	27



# **Special Council Meeting - Minutes**

Minutes of the Special Council Meeting held in the City of South Perth Council Chamber, corner Sandgate Street and South Terrace, South Perth at 6.00pm on Tuesday 1 November 2022.

#### 1. **DECLARATION OF OPENING**

The Presiding Member opened the meeting at 6.01pm and welcomed everyone in attendance.

#### ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE PRESIDING MEMBER 2.

Nil.

#### **ATTENDANCE** 3.

Mayor Greg Milner (Presiding Member)

#### **Councillors**

Como Ward Councillor Carl Celedin Como Ward Councillor Glenn Cridland Manning Ward Councillor Blake D'Souza

**Manning Ward** Councillor André Brender-A-Brandis

Moresby Ward Councillor Jennifer Nevard Moresby Ward Councillor Stephen Russell Mill Point Ward Councillor Mary Choy Mill Point Ward Councillor Ken Manolas

#### Officers

**Chief Executive Officer** Mr Mike Bradford **Director Corporate Services Director Development and Community Services** 

A/Director Infrastructure Services

Manager Customer, Communications and Engagement

**Manager Finance** 

Manager Governance Communications and Marketing Coordinator

**Governance Coordinator** 

**RAF Advisor** 

**Governance Officer** 

Mr Garry Adams Ms Vicki Lummer Mr Steve Atwell Ms Danielle Cattalini Mr Abrie Lacock Ms Bernadine Tucker Ms Karys Nella Ms Toni Frv

Ms Rebecca de Boer Mr Morgan Hindle

#### Guests

Mr Geoff Baker MLA

#### **Gallery**

There were approximately 55 members of the public present.



#### 3.1 APOLOGIES

Nil.

#### 3.2 APPROVED LEAVE OF ABSENCE

• Councillor Glenn Cridland for the period 25 October 2022 to 1 November 2022 inclusive.

#### 4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Nil.

### 5. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

### 5.1 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME: 1 NOVEMBER 2022

In accordance with Regulation 7(4)(b) of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 all questions asked at this meeting must relate to the purpose of this meeting.

The Presiding Member then opened Public Question Time at 6.03pm.

Written questions were received prior to the meeting from:

- Mr Michael Whitley of Waterford.
- Ms Sue Doherty of Como.
- Ms Cecilia Brooke of South Perth.
- Mr Robert Keith Mitchell of South Perth.
- Ms Jo Newman of Manning.

At 6.18pm the Presiding Member requested a motion to extend Public Question Time by 15 minutes to hear those questions not yet heard.

#### **COUNCIL DECISION**

1122/177

**Moved:** Mayor Greg Milner

Seconded: Councillor André Brender-A-Brandis

That in accordance with Clause 6.7 of the City of South Perth Standing Orders Local Law 2007, Public Question Time be extended to hear those questions not yet heard.

CARRIED (9/0)

For: Mayor Greg Milner, Councillors André Brender-A-Brandis, Carl Celedin,

Mary Choy, Glenn Cridland, Blake D'Souza, Ken Manolas, Jennifer

Nevard and Stephen Russell.

Against: Nil.



- Ms Lorna Boyes of Manning.
- Mr Scott Gunson of South Perth.

A table of questions received and answers provided can be found in the **Appendix** of these Minutes.

The Presiding Member then closed Public Question Time at 6.24pm.

Councillor Blake D'Souza left the Chamber at 6.35pm and returned at 6.37pm during consideration of Item 6.

#### 6 DEPUTATIONS

Deputations were received prior to the meeting and heard as follows:

- Ms Honey Webb of Kensington
- Ms Marcia Manolas of South Perth.
- Mr Les Ozsdolay of Como.
- Ms Jo Newman and Mr Oliver Newman of Manning.
- Mr George Watts of Karawara.
- Ms Sue Doherty of Como.
- Ms Lorna Boyes of Manning.
- Ms Cindy Bateman of Salter Point.



#### 7. REPORTS

Councillor Glenn Cridland left the Chamber at 7.47pm and returned at 7.48pm during consideration of Item 7.0.1.

#### 7.0 STRATEGIC DIRECTION 1: COMMUNITY

#### 7.0.1 Recreation and Aquatic Facility

File Ref: D-22-38833

Author(s): Rebecca de Boer, Advisor - RAF

Reporting Officer(s): Steve Atwell, Acting Director Infrastructure Services

#### **Summary**

This report provides an update on the City's proposed Recreation and Aquatic Facility (RAF) and provides an overview of options for consideration by Council.

It also considers the petition lodged by Mr George Watts at the September 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting (OCM) titled 'Support for the Recreation and Aquatic Facility (RAF)'.

#### Officer Recommendation

Moved: Mayor Greg Milner
Seconded: Councillor Blake D'Souza

#### That Council:

#### 1. Requests the CEO to:

- a. develop a masterplan for the Collier Park Golf Course (CPGC) site consistent with the City's Strategic Community Plan (2021-31)
- revise the scope and delivery of the RAF Project so that it can be delivered through three independent and financially viable stages consisting of: Stage 1 Indoor Aquatics + Recreation, Stage 2 Indoor Playing Courts + further golf course redevelopment, Stage 3 Outdoor Pool
- c. update the RAF Operational and Financial models, including funding strategies to reflect the staged approach
- d. provide detailed analysis to Council about the financial impact of the proposed Stage 1 on the City's finances and proposed timing of the staged approach
- e. continue engagement and advocacy with the State Government and other potential funding partners, including potential RAF operators, regarding funding arrangements for all RAF Project stages
- f. continue to update stakeholders and the South Perth community about the proposed staging of the RAF project
- g. report to Council on above matters no later than March 2023.



2. Allocates \$185,000 from the Community Facilities Reserve to the Recreation Aquatic Facility Preliminary Cost project account for the purposes of conducting works outlined in the report.

#### Absolute Majority Required for Officer Recommendation 2

#### **COUNCIL DECISION**

1122/178

**Moved:** Councillor Glenn Cridland **Seconded:** Councillor Blake D'Souza

In accordance with Clause 8.10 of the City of South Perth Standing Orders Local Law 2007 Mayor Greg Milner be granted an additional five minutes to speak.

CARRIED (9/0)

For: Mayor Greg Milner, Councillors André Brender-A-Brandis, Carl Celedin,

Mary Choy, Glenn Cridland, Blake D'Souza, Ken Manolas, Jennifer

Nevard and Stephen Russell.

Against: Nil.

#### **COUNCIL DECISION**

1122/179

Moved: Mayor Greg Milner
Seconded: Councillor Carl Celedin

In accordance with Clause 8.10 of the City of South Perth Standing Orders Local Law 2007 Councillor Mary Choy be granted an additional five minutes to speak.

CARRIED (9/0)

For: Mayor Greg Milner, Councillors André Brender-A-Brandis, Carl Celedin,

Mary Choy, Glenn Cridland, Blake D'Souza, Ken Manolas, Jennifer

Nevard and Stephen Russell.

Against: Nil.



#### **COUNCIL DECISION**

1122/180

Moved: Mayor Greg Milner
Seconded: Councillor Ken Manolas

In accordance with Clause 8.10 of the City of South Perth Standing Orders Local Law 2007 Councillor André Brender-A-Brandis be granted an additional five minutes to speak.

CARRIED (9/0)

For: Mayor Greg Milner, Councillors André Brender-A-Brandis, Carl Celedin,

Mary Choy, Glenn Cridland, Blake D'Souza, Ken Manolas, Jennifer

Nevard and Stephen Russell.

Against: Nil.

#### **COUNCIL DECISION**

1122/181

Moved: Mayor Greg Milner
Seconded: Councillor Mary Choy

In accordance with Clause 8.10 of the City of South Perth Standing Orders Local Law 2007 Councillor Ken Manolas be granted an additional five minutes to speak.

CARRIED (9/0)

For: Mayor Greg Milner, Councillors André Brender-A-Brandis, Carl Celedin,

Mary Choy, Glenn Cridland, Blake D'Souza, Ken Manolas, Jennifer

Nevard and Stephen Russell.

Against: Nil.

#### **COUNCIL DECISION**

1122/182

**Moved:** Mayor Greg Milner

Seconded: Councillor Stephen Russell

In accordance with Clause 8.10 of the City of South Perth Standing Orders Local Law 2007 Councillor Glenn Cridland be granted an additional five minutes to speak.

CARRIED (9/0)

For: Mayor Greg Milner, Councillors André Brender-A-Brandis, Carl Celedin,

Mary Choy, Glenn Cridland, Blake D'Souza, Ken Manolas, Jennifer

Nevard and Stephen Russell.

Against: Nil.



#### 7.0.1

#### Officer Recommendation AND COUNCIL DECISION

#### 1122/183

Moved: Mayor Greg Milner Seconded: Councillor Blake D'Souza

#### That Council:

- Requests the CEO to: 1.
  - develop a masterplan for the Collier Park Golf Course (CPGC) site consistent with the City's Strategic Community Plan (2021-31)
  - b. revise the scope and delivery of the RAF Project so that it can be delivered through three independent and financially viable stages consisting of: Stage 1 - Indoor Aquatics + Recreation, Stage 2 -Indoor Playing Courts + further golf course redevelopment, Stage 3 - Outdoor Pool
  - c. update the RAF Operational and Financial models, including funding strategies to reflect the staged approach
  - provide detailed analysis to Council about the financial impact of d. the proposed Stage 1 on the City's finances and proposed timing of the staged approach
  - continue engagement and advocacy with the State Government and e. other potential funding partners, including potential RAF operators, regarding funding arrangements for all RAF Project stages
  - f. continue to update stakeholders and the South Perth community about the proposed staging of the RAF project
  - report to Council on above matters no later than March 2023. g.
- 2. Allocates \$185,000 from the Community Facilities Reserve to the Recreation Aquatic Facility Preliminary Cost project account for the purposes of conducting works outlined in the report.

#### **CARRIED BY ABSOLUTE MAJORITY (9/0)**

For: Mayor Greg Milner, Councillors André Brender-A-Brandis, Carl Celedin, Mary Choy, Glenn Cridland, Blake D'Souza, Ken Manolas, Jennifer Nevard and Stephen Russell.

Against: Nil.

#### **Background**

This section of the report is divided into three parts:

- Part 1 RAF Project Update
- Part 2 'Support for the Recreation and Aquatic Facility (RAF)' Petition
- Part 3 Options for Council



#### Part 1 - RAF Project Update

Community interest in the RAF Project has grown since the June 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting (OCM). Deputations to both the June and September 2022 OCMs made reference to the lack of community sport and recreation facilities across the City. Council heard from young children, parents with children and older people about the need for a facility which supports health, recreation and builds community. Some of the deputations also raised concerns about the overall cost of the RAF Project and the potential impact on the Collier Park Golf Course (CPGC). Since June 2022 the number of questions about the RAF during Public Question Time at Council Meetings has increased.

The City has been notified by the Federal Government that it is technically 'in breach' of the Federal Funding Agreement (FFA) for the aquatic elements of the RAF as a Project Manager (PM) has not been appointed to the RAF Project. The City is working with the Commonwealth to rectify this breach. Revised milestones for the FFA, including when a PM might be appointed, must be submitted to the Federal Government no later than mid December 2022.

At the September 2022 OCM, Council resolved to request the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to write letters to representatives of the State Government (the Hon. Minister Templeman, Mr Geoff Baker MLA and the WA Department of Treasury) seeking reasons why State Government funding for the RAF Project has not been forthcoming. At the time of publication, the City had not received a response to these letters.

The CEO met with Minister Templeman on 28 September 2022. The meeting was positive but no commitment was given to provide State Government funding to the RAF Project.

#### Part 2 – 'Support for the Recreation and Aquatic Facility (RAF)' Petition

At the September 2022 OCM, Mr George Watts submitted a petition requesting that Council reconsider the 28 June 2022 Council Meeting decision to not appoint a PM for the RAF Project for the following reasons:

- The June 2022 Council Meeting failed to fairly represent and act in the best interests of the entire community for which they were elected to represent
- The indefensible decision exposes the City to serious reputational risk with other levels of government, and places the already secured \$20 million funding from the Federal Government in jeopardy
- By appointing a project manager, it fulfils a key requirement of the federal funding and allows the City to continue to lobby State Government for further funding for the project
- Continuing to pursue the RAF project addresses the City's 'Strategic Community
  Plan' (SCP) which includes 'plan for and promote the development of recreation and
  aquatic facilities to service community needs'

The 'Support for the RAF' petition contained 2,439 signatures of which 2,071 were verified as electors of the City of South Perth. It is the largest petition received – and verified – by the City in recent history.

Council resolved not to support the Officers' Recommendation to forward the petition to the relevant Director for consideration.



Whilst the City's Standing Orders do not explicitly prescribe how a petition is to be presented to Council, Clause 6.9 of the Standing Orders details how the City is to deal with a petition, and as such, the petition is considered in this report.

#### RAF Project Manager

Given the time that has elapsed since the procurement process for the RAF PM was first conducted (October-November 2021), the City is not able to appoint the required PM without conducting a new procurement process. Therefore, Council is not able to reconsider its previous decision.

Appointment of an independent PM was, and still is, a non-negotiable requirement for the \$20 million FFA for the aquatic elements of the RAF. The City must provide the Federal Government with an indication of when a PM will be appointed and revised project milestones no later than December 2022.

#### Part 3 - Options for Council

Council has previously determined that a RAF which is financially and operationally viable is the best way to achieve Strategy 1.2.3 of the Strategic Community Plan (2021-2031). An integrated facility co-located with CPGC is critical to delivering a financially viable RAF as the location maximises existing and future market opportunities.

There have been considerable delays to commencing the Design stages (concept, schematic, detailed) of the RAF Project. Delays to commencing construction are a major contributor to the escalation of costs associated with the project. The City has continued to monitor escalation in the WA market and impact on the RAF Project budget. Value-engineering processes to support managing projected costs and scope have been effective to date. With further delays to the commencement of design and construction, it is now necessary to consider other approaches including changes to functional elements.

As part of the discussions with the Federal Government about the FFA, the City has submitted a request for the removal of the 50m outdoor pool from the scope of the FFA due to escalation, increases in construction costs and potential impact on operating costs. Any amendment to the FFA requires approval by the Federal Minister for Health.

The removal of the 50m outdoor pool as a specific requirement of the FFA does not prevent an outdoor pool being included at the CPGC site at a future date, should funding be achieved and subject to Council approval.

Since project inception, the RAF Project has been subject to several delays and setbacks. Despite this, the demand for community sporting and recreational facilities in the City remains. Concerns have been raised by some Councillors and some members of the community about overall project costs, the commencement of a large scale project in the current WA market and the potential impact on the golf course.

To address these concerns, the City recommends that a masterplan be developed for the CPGC site and the RAF Project be staged. CPGC remains the preferred site for the RAF as it offers the ability to achieve functional viability by co-location of leisure and recreation facilities and a cost-effective approach to asset renewal.

It is recommended that the proposed RAF Project will be divided into three stages, with each stage being discrete and financially viable. Commencement of each stage will be subject to separate Council approval processes.

- Stage 1 Indoor Aquatics + Recreation
- Stage 2 Indoor Playing Courts (in partnership with the State Government and/or other investment) and further golf course redevelopment



 Stage 3 – Outdoor Pool (subject to investment from RAF Operator and/or other investment)

Provision of the outdoor climbing centre could occur at any project stage, subject to the availability of external funding and Council approval.

#### Stage 1 - Indoor Aquatics and Recreation

Stage 1 of the proposed CPGC redevelopment leverages the \$20 million commitment each by the City and the Federal Government with the most profitable business units of the current RAF Business model. It delivers Strategy 1.2.3 of the SCP and addresses the long held and often stated community desire for a pool in the local area.

At a minimum, Stage 1 would include:

- Indoor aquatics with design to be finalised but to include:
  - o Leisure water (water play area) and learn to swim
  - 25m indoor heated pool (8 lanes) with separate programmable warm water pool
- Health club/gym including program rooms
- Technology golf driving range with integrated hospitality venue
- Accommodation and program space for Curtin University, Clontarf and SEDA
- Food and beverage options, including café and function facilities

Although detailed costings have not yet been undertaken, preliminary cost estimates indicate that the total project budget for Stage 1 ranges from \$45 - 60 million (+ GST), dependent on project scope and timing.

Early investigations also suggest that the impact on the golf course will be minimal. It is unlikely that there will be any significant change to the configuration of the golf course as part of Stage 1.

#### Stage 2 - Indoor Playing Courts + further golf course redevelopment

There is a chronic shortage of indoor playing courts across the Perth Metropolitan Region. Growth of sports such as basketball and volleyball (two of the fastest growing team sports in WA) are constrained by the number of courts available for training and competition and existing indoor court venues are heavily oversubscribed. Other sports such as wheelchair dancing also require large spaces to facilitate participation.

Provision of the courts would address sport and community needs, encourage greater participation in physical activity and promote the growth of community sport in WA but are unlikely to generate significant profits. The City has been actively lobbying the State Government to fund this part of the RAF.

Preliminary investigations suggest that the CPGC site would support provision of between 10-14 courts subject to design, available funding and more detailed planning, at an estimated cost of \$20-30 million.



#### Golf course redevelopment

The current scope of the RAF Project includes plans for the redevelopment of the Lakes 9 course to a short form golf format consisting of five par 3 holes and four par 4 holes (31 in total). Should this be adopted, the Lakes 9 course would become a shorter course, subject to design and stakeholder consultation. A shorter course is faster to play and encourages accuracy and skill, providing an alternative for new and experienced golfers of all ages, abilities and skill levels. This approach is consistent with the Australian Golf Strategy 2022-2025 which seeks to attract more Australians to play golf – in all its forms.

A review of CPGC in 2017 identified that the current business model focused on the traditional golf market would not support the facility into the future. It recommended that CPGC diversify and respond to golf trends for short-format, social and golf entertainment (such as technology driving range) to remain commercially and financially viable. The City adopted these recommendations and incorporated the proposed redevelopment of CPGC to reflect these trends as part of its agreement with Clublinks (current golf course operator) in 2018.

External funding is required for Phase 2 and the City has been lobbying the State Government regarding the provision of indoor playing courts at the RAF. The proposed golf course redevelopment would be funded by the RAF Operator, private investment or a combination of both.

#### Stage 3 - Outdoor Pool

The stakeholder engagement for the RAF conducted in August-September 2020 had the largest ever response to a stakeholder and community engagement exercise conducted by the City with over 1,641 respondents to the online survey (1,407 residents of the City).

Key findings overall from the stakeholder and community engagement identified a high level of support for the concept of the RAF with 87.2% of total respondents (87.8% City respondents) to the survey indicating they would use the proposed facility. It demonstrated that many City residents use facilities outside of the City (70.3%) and the high use of aquatic and indoor recreation facilities by residents of the City (79.4% of respondents had used an aquatic or indoor recreation facilities in the last 12 months).

Online survey participants were invited to nominate their preferences for aquatic and indoor recreation activities to be offered at the RAF. Of the 12 most popular, half were aquatic related:

- Swimming
- Walking in water
- Hydrotherapy
- Water Play Area
- Aquatic Group Classes
- Swimming lessons

All these activities are best conducted in an indoor aquatic environment. There is a strong consumer preference for learn to swim (LTS) to be conducted indoors with the added benefit of being able to operate all year round. Expert advice received by the City regarding patronage of the 50m outdoor pool suggests that a limited number of people would visit the RAF for the outdoor pool only and provision of an outdoor pool would not be a key consideration for most people visiting the RAF.



Inclusion of the 50m outdoor pool at a later date enables the City to determine community demand and further assess the benefits and risks associated with construction and operation. The 50m outdoor pool is not a key revenue driver for the RAF and attracts ongoing, fixed operational costs. Commencement of Stage 3 would be subject to future approval by Council with all costs (capital + operational) to be met by the RAF Operator and/or private investment.

#### Revision of RAF Project Budget and RAF Operational and Financial models

The City has not undertaken detailed costings or analysis for Stage 1. Preliminary analysis of the impact of the staged approach to the RAF Project budget and RAF Operational and Financial models, indicates that a staged approach offers a net positive to the RAF Project. Removal of the 50m outdoor pool reduces construction costs and ongoing operational costs.

Stage 1 is expected to generate a financial return to the City as the key revenue drivers of the RAF are unchanged. The size and scale of the facility has a significant impact on the operational model. Further analysis is required to determine optimal space and scope allocation for each business unit with additional costings to determine the impact on construction costs, total project budget and RAF Operational and Financial models.

Costs associated with construction in the WA market are dynamic and the timing of commencement of construction will have an impact on the RAF Project budget and RAF Operational and Financial models. Current assumptions are for commencement of construction in May 2024. Further delays are likely to lead to an increase in costs (and reduced scope for the available budget).

The anticipated project budget for Stage 1 ranges from \$45-60million (+ GST), dependent on final scoping and design. Preliminary estimates indicate that the project budget for Stage 1 would need to be around \$60 million (+ GST) to ensure the financial viability and sustainability of the RAF. The City will conduct detailed analysis of Stage 1 options in a range of \$45-60 million, with associated updates of the RAF Operational and Financial models, provided to Council.

#### Comment

Community support for the RAF has continued to be demonstrated. Existing facilities such as CPGC and GBLC are not fit for purpose and require significant expenditure to upgrade or redevelop. If the RAF does not proceed, Council will need to make decisions about renewal (and associated expenditure) of existing assets such as CPGC and GBLC.

Development of a masterplan for CPGC together with updated RAF Operational and Financial models to reflect the proposed Stage 1 enables Council to determine whether the RAF is economically viable and financially sustainable. It addresses many of the questions raised by Councillors and the community about the impact of escalation on the RAF Project.

Inclusion of the 50m outdoor pool in Stage 3 does not limit community access to aquatics. All of the preferred aquatic activities nominated by the community as part of the RAF Stakeholder Engagement will be provided at Stage 1.



Staging of the RAF Project leverages the already secured funding (City + Federal Government + Curtin University) and enables the most profitable business units of the RAF to be built first. Under this scenario, Council could progress the RAF project without a decision from the State Government and commence Stage 1. Future stages of the RAF Project would only be built if State Government and external funding was received with Council approval required for each stage. The overall risks to the RAF Project are considerably reduced by this approach.

Revision of the RAF Operational and Financial models to reflect the staged approach will provide Council with detailed information about whether Stage 1 is financially viable with no requirement for operations to be subsidised by City rates revenue. Based on the current RAF Operational and Financial models and the revised scope (notably the removal of the 50m outdoor pool + indoor playing courts), the City anticipates that a total project budget for Stage 1 of around \$60 million will be financially and operationally viable but further analysis is required. Removal of the outdoor pool significantly reduces the projected operational costs for the RAF.

The November 2020 decision by Council in relation to the RAF Project (Item 10.7.5) acknowledged the total funding package of \$80 million (ex GST) and the projected financial self-sustainability for the RAF Project. The decision noted that should any of these assumptions change, the RAF Business Case would need to be amended for Council consideration. The City anticipates that staging the RAF Project will have minimal, if any, impact on the RAF Financial and Operational models. The City remains committed to financial and operational sustainability of the RAF.

#### Risk management

Acceptance of the Officer Recommendation effectively manages the risks associated with the RAF Project as it gives greater certainty about the costs associated with construction and each project stage. The total funding package of \$80 million (ex GST) that formed the basis of previous decisions about the RAF does not need to be achieved prior to the commencement of Stage 1. Funding of Stages 2 and 3 is from sources external to the City, such as the State Government, the RAF Operator, private investment or a combination of some or all of these sources. The project budget for Stage 1 will be considerably less than \$80 million and Stage 1 could formally commence early to mid 2023, subject to future Council approval.

The proposed staged approach also gives greater certainty to the State and Federal government when making decisions about the RAF Project. The City is engaged in ongoing discussions with the State Government about funding for the indoor playing courts at the RAF and is seeking to rectify the breach of the FFA with the Federal Government. Acceptance of the Officer Recommendation demonstrates to the State and Federal Government that Council is committed to the RAF Project.

It also sends a strong signal to the community that Council is willing to continue with the RAF Project and is prepared to consider revision of the RAF Project so that the significant unmet demand for community sporting and recreation facilities in the City can be met in a manner which is financially viable and sustainable.

The risks associated with not accepting the Officer Recommendation are considerable. The City would be unable to provide the Federal Government with revised milestones for the FFA, including when a PM will be appointed. Failure to submit the revised milestones by mid December 2022 increases the risk of the City forfeiting the \$20 million grant. Council would also suffer severe reputational damage with the community, RAF Project stakeholders and partners and the State and Federal governments.



It is unlikely that the City would receive a grant of this magnitude – from any level of government – in the short to medium term, thus compromising the City's ability to attract external funding for future infrastructure projects.

#### **Financial Implications**

The RAF Financial and Operational models are well developed and comprehensive. Consistent with the November 2020 Council decision on the RAF, minor revision and update is required to account for the proposed staging of the RAF Project. The proposed expenditure leverages the investment and due diligence already undertaken by the City during RAF Project development stage. The proposed revision and update will provide more detailed information to inform Council when making future decisions about the RAF Project.

The proposed budget adjustment of \$185,000 is to account for the following works:

- Development of a masterplan for the CPGC site with anticipated dates for each project stage
- Preliminary design for Stage 1 to ensure operational and financial viability within the available funding
- Update and test the RAF Financial and Operational models to ensure that Stage 1 is financially viable with no requirement for operations to be subsidised by City rates revenue, including analysis of options in the range of \$45-\$60 million
- Further market sounding of RAF Operators to determine extent of capital investment for Stage 1 and possible future stages
- Amendment of funding strategy to reflect proposed stages
- Inform stakeholders and the community about the proposed changes

Funding will be allocated by a transfer from the Community Facilities Reserve of \$185,000 to the Recreation Aquatic Facility Preliminary Cost project account.

Council's financial commitment of \$20 million to the RAF project remains unchanged and is a key assumption of Stage 1. Should the RAF Project not proceed, Council will need to consider other options – such as the upgrade of CPGC and GBLC – which together will likely require more than the \$20 million commitment already made for the RAF Project with limited prospect of financial viability.

#### Consultation

Confidential briefings were provided to Councillors on 10 and 24 October 2022.

#### **Policy and Legislative Implications**

Development of a masterplan for the CPGC site and staging of the RAF Project is consistent with the following Strategies of the Strategic Community Plan 2021-2031:

- 1.1.2 Facilitate and create opportunities for inclusive and cohesive social, cultural and healthy activity in the City
- 1.2.1 Maintain current and plan, develop and facilitate community infrastructure to respond to community needs and priorities
- 1.2.2 Effectively develop, manage and optimise the use of the City's properties, assets and facilities



- 1.2.3 Plan for and promote the development of recreation and aquatic facilities to service City of South Perth needs
- 4.3.2 Diversify and optimise non-rate income

#### **Key Risks and Considerations**

### **Risk Event Outcome Reputational Damage** Deals with adverse impact upon the professional reputation and integrity of the City and its representatives whether those persons be appointed or elected to represent the City. The outcome can range from a letter of complaint through to a sustained and co-ordinated representation against the City and or sustained adverse comment in the media. Risk rating High Mitigation and actions Staging of the RAF Project gives Council greater certainty about the costs associated with construction and overall project costs. A positive decision demonstrates to the State and Federal Government that Council is committed to the RAF project and provides greater confidence when making decisions about funding requests or amendment to the FFA. It also signals to the community that Council is willing to continue with the RAF Project and is prepared to consider alternative ways to address the lack of community sporting and recreation infrastructure in the City. Should Council not accept the Officer Recommendation, the City will be unable to provide the Federal Government with updated milestones for the FFA by mid December 2022, thus increasing the risk of forfeiting the \$20 million grant for the aquatic aspects of the RAF.

#### Strategic Implications

This matter relates to the following Strategic Direction identified within Council's <u>Strategic Community Plan 2021-2031</u>:

Strategic Direction: Community

Aspiration: Our diverse community is inclusive, safe, connected and

engaged

Outcome: 1.2 Community infrastructure

Strategy: 1.2.3 Plan for and promote the development of recreation and

aquatic facilities to service City of South Perth needs

#### **Attachments**

Nil.



### 8. CLOSURE

The Presiding Member thanked everyone for their attendance and closed the meeting at 8.20pm.



### **APPENDIX**

# **5.1 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME: 1 November 2022**

1.	Mr Michael Whitley, Waterford Received: 27 October 2022	Responses provided by: Steve Atwell – A/Director Infrastructure Services	
_	[Preamble] This project has been a long work in progress and would surely benefit the community?		
1.	When will the work start on the "R.A.F. Project?	The City has been working on the RAF Project for several years.  Commencement of Design and construction are subject to decisions by Council.	
2.	When is the estimated time of completion?	Subject to acceptance of the Officer Recommendation in Report 7.0.1 of this Agenda tonight, the City will provide advice to Council and the community about expected timelines for the proposed Stage 1 no later than March 2023.	



2.	Ms Sue Doherty, Como Received: 31 October 2022	Responses provided by: Mike Bradford – CEO
1.	Please provide specific details of the purpose of the \$20m federal government funding grant to the City of South Perth?	The City has a \$20 million grant from the Federal Government for the aquatic elements of the RAF. Currently there are two deliverables for the Agreement – a 50m outdoor pool and an indoor aquatic area consisting of a leisure pool, learn to swim pool, warm water pool and amenities. The City has submitted a request to the Federal Government to remove the 50m outdoor pool from the scope of the Agreement and it is awaiting a response. Any scope change requires the approval of the Minister for Health.
2.	As the first contractual requirement of the federal funding to appoint a Project Manager has been breached is there a Project Schedule with dates of required milestone activities listed and is there a copy of the schedule available for the ratepayers?	No. The contract doesn't have a project schedule as such. There are a number of milestones that are contained within the Federal Funding Agreement. The City has been advised that it is in breach of the Federal Funding Agreement and has been requested to submit revised Milestones (with associated dates) for the Federal Funding Agreement no later than mid December 2022. It is not publicly available at the moment, this could be available to the public, subject to a decision of Council in the future but at the moment it is all being revised.
3.	As the Property Committee has been disbanded is there a specific group dealing with the consideration of the RAF feasibility and planning, and if there is such a dedicated group what is the structure of the group regarding the number of Councillors and City officers?	The City has established a small project team supported by external consultants for the RAF Project. We have substantially reduced the amount of resources and effort behind that team in the last several months, as the direct work on the project has reduced. As the planning for the RAF is largely an operational matter, Councillors are not involved in this process. The City provides advice and recommendations to Council for its consideration and action. I expect the governance arrangements for the project will be revisited subject to the decision of Council tonight when we get back to Council in March.



3.	Ms Cecilia Brooke, South Perth Received: 31 October 2022	Responses provided by: Steve Atwell – A/Director Infrastructure Services
[Preamble] As I have stated in many of my previous deputations, The City of South Perth Residents Association Incorporated (CoSPRA) have always been supportive of the city undertaking activities to provide an aquatic centre for the residents of South Perth, but it has taken over two years and over \$1.5m of expenditure to come to this juncture in time. Tonight, the Officers Report and Officer Recommendation at Item 7.0.1 appears to set a way to progress the RAF project but urge Councillors to consider my following questions when making the decisions asked of you		
1.	Will the City refine the total RAF project with clear deliverables, timelines, and milestones at which Councillors can decide to proceed or exit the RAF project and make those deliverables, timelines & milestones available to the community?	Yes – for Stage 1 only – subject to Council's acceptance of the Officer Recommendation tonight. It is not possible for the City to predict, when – and if – external funding will be secured for future stages.
2.	Given the City Officers are recommending a new budget for the RAF project of \$45m to \$60m, will the city carry out a cost analysis of an aquatic facility based at the George Burnett Leisure Centre before committing to a final location for the RAF?	No. Council endorsed CPGC as the preferred location for the RAF in September 2019. A financially sustainable recreation and aquatic facility cannot be delivered at GBLC due to the lack of integration with other activities.
3.	Council committed an initial amount of \$20m towards the original RAF project and stated that the RAF would be a cost positive venture and would pay back the \$20m over time. Have Council set a timeline for this payback to occur?	No – that will be a matter for future decisions of Council.



### 4. Mr Robert Keith Mitchell, South Perth Received: 31 October 2022

### Responses provided by: Mike Bradford – CEO

#### [Preamble]

My question is relating to the time and timing of the debate tonight as distinct from the substance which I think others are asking questions about, more the revised scope. Mine is directly relating to the timing. I am aiming to avoid an unintended message to be given to the State Government from this meeting. Basically we are going to proceed without your State money.

1. Has the City of South Perth (COSP) received any responses from the WA State Government from the three letters that were sent to the Hon Minister Templeman, Mr Geoff Baker MLA and the WA Department of Treasury, and has any communication from the State Government indicated the likelihood that a response would be received by COSP within the next three weeks (by November 22)?

No we have not received a response to the letters and we have not received any response to when a response is likely. It is not possible for the City to predict when a response from the WA State Government might be received.

What is driving the timing of this meeting and the decision tonight is the need to get back to the Commonwealth in terms of revised milestones.

2. Should the debate on the RAF Item at least have a likely indication of State Government financial commitment and support or their lack of support, should we be waiting until we have got consideration of that?

The decision for Council tonight is independent of the requirement for State Government funding and we have clearly indicated that State Government funding, if provided is to be targeted at stage 2 which is the indoor courts and if at any time the State Government responds, hopefully in a positive way then we would be able to engage with them and incorporate that in our planning.

3. The Council and several deputations and questioners at Council meetings have raised concerns about the overall cost of the RAF Project and the potential impact on the Collier Park Golf Course (CPGC). The Background to item 7.0.1 states "Preliminary estimates indicate that the project budget for Stage 1 would need to be around \$60million (+GST) to ensure the financial viability and sustainability of the RAF." Which would do greater "reputational damage" to the COSP; to proceed with Stage 1 without any substantial State Government commitment OR to wait a few more weeks for a response from the State Government?

We have got no indication of when the State Government may or may not respond. There is no suggestion that they will respond. State Government funding is not integral to Stage 1. Continuing to proceed with the planning of the project sends a clear message to the State Government that the City is committed to the project and actually would encourage them to respond positively.

5.	Ms Jo Newman, Manning Received: 31 October 2022	Responses provided by: Mike Bradford – CEO
1.	The officer report states that "expert advice" was received by the City regarding the patronage of the 50m outdoor pool. Who is this expert and has the City used their services on this project previously, or any other project?	The City has engaged several leading sport, aquatics and recreational experts on the RAF project and they have been part of the project since its inception. I will name some of them; active exchange, bridge 42, Oceanus International, Christou our architects, RLB our quantity surveyors and the Paatsch Group. Together they have created the visitation and other numbers that go around the patronage of the pool and validated them. That was further validated in the market sounding exercise we undertook when those numbers were exposed to potential operators of the RAF and feedback provided through that process as well. We have had leading experts look at it and provide that advice and it has been validated. Most of those experts have been part of the project since inception we haven't necessarily used them on other projects, we haven't had any other aquatic projects to run.
2.	When the report was released on Friday, that was the first time ratepayers learned that the 50m outdoor pool appears to not be a key component of the RAF and reaction to this proposed change by the community has been overwhelmingly negative. Does the City feel the expert advice is representative of ratepayers views?	We must balance competing objectives between budget and ongoing operational viability to come up with what the priorities are. The 50m outdoor pool remains a key component of the RAF. It hasn't been prioritised as highly as others. The evidence we have indicates that the indoor aquatic facility provides the lion share of the functions and requirements to be met by the community. I do appreciate that the 50m pool is an attractive and obvious element to many people.
3.	What opportunities do ratepayers now have to have their say on the 50m outdoor pool given this is a significant change to the project scope and timing and therefore warrants community consultation?	The City has noted the views expressed tonight and over the weekend on the various social media pages about the proposed change in scope. We understand the disappointment in the community that the 50m outdoor pool is not part of Stage 1. We wish to assure the community that the City will continue to work towards this goal and will advocate for external funding so that Stage 3 can be brought forward as soon as funding is achieved and subject to Council approvals.



6.	Ms Lorna Boyes, Manning Received: 31 October 2022	Responses provided by: Steve Atwell – A/Director Infrastructure Services
1.	<ul> <li>How does the City expect the overall project costs for the staged approach to compare to the costs for the original RAF concept? Noting that construction of a single facility would likely be more efficient due to:</li> <li>economies of scale from a larger development</li> <li>construction occurring at one point in time rather than over a period of years where costs can be expected to rise further</li> <li>minimising disruption and potential revenue loss to early stage facilities during construction of later stages</li> </ul>	Should the Officer Recommendation be accepted tonight, the City will undertake more detailed analysis of total project costs and the costs associated with Stage 1.  The costs associated with Stage 2 and 3 will not be borne by the City – commencement of these stages is subject to external funding and Council approval.
2.	<ul> <li>What is the expected effect of the staged approach on the City's ability to attract private investment for the project, noting that:</li> <li>initial investors would be asked to buy into a much smaller and less attractive business than the original proposal for a fully integrated facility</li> <li>investors in later stages would be asked to buy into what the City has indicated are the least profitable parts of the business</li> </ul>	The City has not tested the market in relation to the proposed staging of the RAF Project. As part of the planning for the staged approach to the RAF, the City considered all the business units of the proposed RAF and selected the key revenue drivers for Stage 1. The City does not envisage that a staged approach will have a significant impact on the quantum of investment from a potential RAF Operator. Further market sounding of potential RAF Operators will test this assumption, should Council accept the Officer Recommendation tonight.
3.	Will the City consider progressing investigations into the staged approach alongside the original concept for a comprehensive facility? This would enable informed decision-making as to which proposal represents the best value for money whilst also fulfilling Council's commitment to deliver aquatic and recreational facilities which meet all – not only some – of the community's needs.	The City must act in accordance with Council decisions. If the Officer Recommendation is accepted tonight, the City must undertake the prescribed tasks. If the state government responds positively to the City's funding request in the next few months it will be possible to incorporate additional project elements for Council consideration by March 2023. For example, it would be possible to combine Stage 1 and 2.



7.	Mr Scott Gunson, South Perth Received: 31 October 2022	Responses provided by: Garry Adams – Director Corporate Services
[Preamble] Technology golf driving range with integrated hospitality venue.		
1.	Will there be a tender process for golf management once Golflinks contract ends in March 2023, or will Golflinks agreement be extended?	It is anticipated that the contract with Clublinks will be extended in the short term. A procurement process will subsequently be run to select an operator for the overall recreation and aquatic facility.
2.	Will there be a tender process for the design/build/operation of the Technology golf driving range with integrated hospitality venue?	The technology golf driving range with integrated hospitality venue is a key component of the proposed Stage 1 of the RAF Project. An architect has already been appointed to the RAF Project with responsibility for Design. Construction will be subject to a public tender. Ideally the operator will be engaged in time to participate in the Design process.



#### **DISCLAIMER**

The City advises that comments recorded represent the views of the person making them and should not in any way be interpreted as representing the views of Council. The minutes are a confirmation as to the nature of comments made and provide no endorsement of such comments. Most importantly, the comments included as dot points are not purported to be a complete record of all comments made during the course of debate. Persons relying on the minutes are expressly advised that the summary of comments provided in those minutes do not reflect and should not be taken to reflect the view of the Council. The City makes no warranty as to the veracity or accuracy of the individual opinions expressed and recorded therein.

These Minutes were confirmed at the Ordinary Council Meeting on: Tuesday 22 November 2022.
Signed
Presiding Member at the meeting at which the Minutes were confirmed